
1

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - BRECKLAND AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

Date & Time - WEDNESDAY, 17TH JULY, 2019 AT 10.00 AM

Venue - TRAINING ROOM, GRESSENHALL FARM & 
WORKHOUSE MUSEUM, FAKENHAM ROAD, 
GRESSENHALL, DEREHAM, NR20 4DR

Committee Members:

Breckland Council Norfolk County Council

Mr R.G. Kybird (Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr C. Harvey

  

         Mr P.J. Duigan (Vice-Chairman)
 Mr F. Eagle
 Mr T. J. Jermy
 Mr M. Kiddle-Morris

         Mr W Richmond

Co-optees Ex-Officio

Mr D. Blackburn
Mr Bill Rhodes
Dr K Robinson

Mr D. Buck
Mr J Ward

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Tuesday, 9 July 2019

Public Document Pack



2

Page(s)
herewith

1. CHAIRMAN 
To elect a Chaiman for the ensuing year.

2. VICE-CHAIRMAN 
To elect a Vice-Chaiman for the ensuing year.

3. MINUTES 3 - 7
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 18th March 2019.

4. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.

5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

6. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act, 
1972.

7. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the 
Localism Act 2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the 
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

8. ANCIENT HOUSE MUSEUM REPORT 8 - 13
To receive the report from Oliver Bone, Curator of Ancient House 
Museum.

9. GRESSENHALL FARM & WORKHOUSE REPORT 14 - 21
To receive a report from Andrew Smith, Operations Manager - West.

10. PRESENTATION - 'MORE THAN OLIVER TWIST' 
An introduction to the Workhouse Subject Specialist Network (SSN) 
project presented by Megan Dennis (Gressenhall Curator) and Elspeth 
Hunter (Project Support Officer).

11. NEXT MEETING 
To arrange the date of the next meetings. Suggested dates:

Wednesday 16th October at Ancient House Museum, Thetford.
Wednesday 15 January at Gressenhall Workhouse & Museum.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

BRECKLAND AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 18 March 2019 at 10.30 am in
Ancient House Museum, 27 Whitehart St, Thetford, IP24 1AA

PRESENT
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr R.G. Kybird (Chairman)

Mr P.J. Duigan (Vice-Chairman)
Mr F. Eagle
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris

Also Present
Mr J Ward
Mr D. Blackburn
Mr Bill Rhodes

In Attendance
Mr Oliver Bone - Curator of Kings Lynn and Thetford 

Museums
Dr Robin Hanley - Assistant Head of Museums
Andrew Smith - Operations Manager - West (&East), 

Norfolk Museums Service
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

1/19 MINUTES 

Mr Ward was present at the meeting of the 8 October which had not 
been recorded.

Subject to this amendment, the minutes of the meeting held on 8 
October 2018 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman.

2/19 APOLOGIES 

An apology had been received from Councillor Clarke.

3/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

None.

4/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

5/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

3

Agenda Item 3



Breckland Area Museums Committee
18 March 2019

2

Action By

6/19 GRESSENHALL FARM AND WORKHOUSE REPORT 

Andrew Smith, the Operations Manager for East and West presented 
the report to Members that covered the period from August 2018 to 
February 2019.

Gressenhall continued to offer a broad programme of events based 
on the four operational models of Special Event Days, Days with a 
Difference, Norfolk School Holidays and Ticketed Events.

The 2019 events programme had been finalised and included firm 
favourites such as ‘Horse Power’ and Apple Day, and a new event 
devoted to birds entitled ‘Winging It’ had been introduced.

As part of the new Collections Gallery, a dedicated temporary 
exhibition space had been created to house an annual show.  The 
2018 season exhibition ‘Beer and Brewing’ proved very popular and 
included a real bar and objects relating to beer and brewing in Norfolk.  
The 2019 Exhibition entitled ‘Once upon a Time’ had opened on the 
10 March and focused on favourite Children’s books past and present.

The use of the cutting-edge technology in the new Voices from the 
Workhouse galleries have been well received, however, for some, it 
can have the potential to cause sensory overload.  Early bird opening 
sessions delivered in partnership with Autism Anglia were introduced 
in 2018 and were very successful.  Building on this success, further 
dates have been scheduled for 2019. 

Gressenhall continued to develop a range of commercial activities and 
hosted five weddings during 2018 which were organised by the 
Events partner, The Norfolk Events Company.  The Company had 
now launched a promotional campaign across social media sites to 
develop the offer further.

Members heard that funding had been agreed for the re-development 
of the adventure playground which had been a key part for the visitors 
of the museum.

The Friends of Gressenhall had agreed to support the project to 
restore the Farmers’ Foundary Engine Boiler back to working use.  
Initial conservation work identified that additional resources were 
required to make the engine fully operational and an application to the 
Arts Council England Investment Fund had been successful.

A day had been planned with the Gypsy Roma Traveller (GRT) 
community to offer a wellbeing day.  The day would offer free entry to 
the museum to engage in a series of family-friendly activities delivered 
by museum and local providers.

Visitor numbers were circulated which showed Gressenhall Farm and 
Workhouse had seen over 53,500 visitors year to date (March 2019 
figures were yet to be added).

Councillor Ward asked what the museum would be doing to enhance 

4



Breckland Area Museums Committee
18 March 2019

3

Action By

the play area.    Dr Hanley responded that the core elements of the 
playground had been installed 10-years ago and after regular 
inspections it was felt that some areas should be replaced.  A funding 
application to Norfolk County Council capital funding scheme had 
been successful and a further brief was being developed to create an 
appropriate themed play area.  It was hoped the works would be 
completed ahead of the summer school holidays, and appropriate 
communication would be issued to inform visitors ahead of any 
closure of the playground.

Councillor Bowes asked how many bookings had been received for 
2019, particularly for weddings.  Members were informed that whilst 
there had been some strong leads there were no firm bookings as yet.

The Chairman asked if there had been any constrictions made as a 
result of Norfolk County budget constraints.  Dr Hanley informed 
Members that as part of the reductions it did result in a redundancy of 
the assistant curator at Gressenhall however ways of mitigating the 
loss had been put in place.

The Chairman thanked Mr Smith for the detailed report.  

Members noted the report as recommended.

7/19 REPORT OF ANCIENT HOUSE 

The Curator of Kings Lynn and Thetford Museums, Oliver Bone, 
presented the report to Members that covered the period from August 
2018 to January 2019.

The current exhibition at Ancient House displayed the life and work of 
pioneering British photographer Olive Edis and was proving popular 
with visitors.  It would be on display at the museum until 14 
September 2019.

The Teenage History Club curated an exhibition at the end of 2018 on 
Pride in People: Helping history out of the closet.  It had provoked 
interest from visitors and the teenage club were working on a pop-up 
version of the exhibition to take the tour to various sites across Norfolk 
and would make a film.

Forthcoming displays would include an exhibition on studio ceramics 
featuring highlights from the decorative art collections, including 
recent acquisitions and items not previously on public display.

Ancient House applied to be part of the Brecks River and Fen Edge 
landscape project to focus on conservation and interpretation of the 
Brecks Area.  If successful, the museum would produce exhibitions on 
themes of Vikings and Riverside Industrial Heritage.

The visitor numbers showed an increase during April 2018 to March 
2019 which was seen as a great achievement.

Councillor Duigan asked if the weather had an impact on the visitor 

5



Breckland Area Museums Committee
18 March 2019

4

Action By

numbers as Ancient House was predominately an inside venue and 
therefore not affected as other museums across the county.  The 
Curator agreed, and added the regular community groups that make 
use of the museum also steadied the visitor numbers.

Councillor Darby asked if the museum had made links with the site at 
Desert Rats could be a vast amount of history at the venue that could 
be shared.  The Curator would track down the organiser for the 
annual mid-summer event, to see if links could be developed.

Sam Parker, a trainee at the museum, provided Members with an 
overview on the experience she was gaining whilst working at Ancient 
House.

The Chairman thanked Mr Bone for the detailed report.  

Members noted the report as recommended.

8/19 COLLECTIONS RATIONALISATION REPORT 

The Assistant Head of Museums, Samantha Johns, presented the 
collections report to Members.

Councillor Kiddle-Morris asked what would happen if the objects were 
not acquired.  It was confirmed that the object would be returned to 
store, or alternatively, if beyond repair would be disposed of, however 
that would come back to the Committee for decision.

Councillor Darby asked if independent museums received letters to 
inform them of collections that were being released.  Members were 
informed that if museums belonged to the Museum Association, they 
would receive a copy of the Museum Journal of which the collections 
would be advertised in.  Following discussion, it was also agreed that 
the information would be shared with SHARE to rehome objects. 

RESOLVED that Members agree that the objects listed in Appendix 3 
of the report be deaccessioned.

9/19 SHARE MUSEUMS EAST AND SUPPORT FOR INDEPENDENT 
MUSEUMS IN NORFOLK 

Members received a presentation from Jamie Everitt, Regional 
Museums Development Manager and Su Booth Norfolk Museums 
Development Officer.

Mr Everitt explained how the Share Museums East supported 
museums in the East of England, providing advice and training on 
programmes such as Collections Care, audience development and 
resilience.  

Ms Booth worked closely with the museums across Norfolk supporting 
independent museums by offering advice on how to enhance their 
audience and improve visitor numbers, as well as being the conduit 
for allowing museums to share knowledge with each other.

6



Breckland Area Museums Committee
18 March 2019

5

Action By

The Chairman thanked the Officers for their comprehensive 
presentation.

10/19NEXT MEETING 

The meeting dates were agreed, subject to County Councillor 
Members not required to attend a meeting on the 17 July.

The next meeting would be held on 17 July at Gressenhall Farm & 
Workhouse Museum.  Time to be confirmed.

The meeting closed at 11.50 am

CHAIRMAN

7



BRECKLAND
AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

17 July 2019 Item No.

ANCIENT HOUSE, MUSEUM OF THETFORD LIFE REPORT

Report by the Curator, Ancient House Museum

 

1. Exhibitions and associated events

1.1 Olive Edis: Photographer 15th December 2018 – 14th September 
2019
The current main exhibition at Ancient House is Olive Edis: Photographer 
which opened on the 14th December at a ‘Takeover event’ by the children 
from the museum’s after-school History Club, at which the children gave a 
short dramatic performance of Olive Edis’s life.  This exhibition celebrates the 
life and work of pioneering British photographer Olive Edis (1876-1955). 
Although relatively unknown, Edis was one of the most important 
photographers of the first half of the 20th century and the first-ever accredited 
female war photographer. The breadth of her subjects from British royalty and 
aristocracy to the characterful faces of the fisherman of north Norfolk, together 
with her highly atmospheric photographs of the battlefields of France and 
Flanders taken during her time as an official World War One war 
photographer, raise her to international status. The exhibition was created in 
association with Alistair Murphy, Curator at Cromer Museum. Alistair has 
previously curated exhibitions at Cromer and Norwich and co-authored the 
catalogue Fishermen and Kings that is currently on sale in the museum shop. 
The Olive Edis project was supported by the Heritage Lottery Fund (now 
called the National Lottery Heritage Fund). The exhibition runs until 14th 
September 2019.

1.2 Princess Sophia Exhibition as part of Festival of Norfolk and 
Punjab
Plans are in place for the production of a new pop-up exhibition in the Hall of 
Ancient House about Princess Sophia Duleep Singh, who was a leading 
suffragette and an exact contemporary of Oliver Edis (both born in the late 

This report provides information on activities at 
Ancient House, Museum of Thetford Life from 
February 2019 – June 2019

If you need this report in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language please 
contact Oliver Bone on 01842 752599 and we will do 
our best to help

8

Agenda Item 8



summer of 1876). The new exhibition will include nine pop-up graphic panels 
outlining the story of the princess, a film about Sophia Duleep Singh, display 
of portraits of Maharajah Duleep Singh, his son Prince Frederick Duleep 
Singh and Princess Sophia. The museum is borrowing a portrait of princess 
Sophia Duleep Singh by Suman Kaur, winner of the BBC’s Big Painting 
Challenge in 2017.  The exhibition will also feature a touch screen exhibition 
lent by the Sikh Museum Initiative and display of Indian miniatures.  Volunteer 
Dan Morgan is planning to create a window display featuring the five rivers of 
Punjab, accompanied by knitted river creatures. The exhibition opens on 15th 
June.

Other events for the Punjab Festival include a series of talks at Ancient House 
and two family focused events.  The Festival finale event takes place on 
Sunday 3rd August.
  
The Punjab Festival project is being delivered in partnership with the Essex 
Cultural Diversity Project using funding from the National Lottery Heritage 
Fund, Breckland Council, Thetford Town Council, and Norfolk County Council. 
A launch event took place on 15th June.

1.3 Pride of the People: Helping History Out of the Closet Teenage 
History Club Exhibition Project.  Pop-up exhibition
Last autumn Ancient House exhibited Pride of the People: Helping History out 
of the Closet curated by the Museum’s Teenage History Club. Learning 
Officer Melissa Hawker worked with the museum’s Teenage History Club to 
curate this exhibition exploring LGBTQ+ history.  As part of the Norfolk 
Museums Service (NMS) Arts Council England programme as a National 
Portfolio Organisation, the museum is committed to diversifying both the 
audiences to the museum and also those voices within its displays.  

A pop-up version of the exhibition is planned which will be available to tour to 
various community venues in the summer of 2019.

1.4 Peace comes to Thetford 
The Ancient House is participating in town events planned for 20th July 2019 
to mark the anniversary of Thetford’s celebration of peace following the end of 
the First World War. With support from the National Lottery Heritage Fund, the 
project seeks to commemorate the ‘Forgotten Soldiers’ and their families who 
were affected by the war in various ways but are not listed on the town war 
memorial.

2 Forthcoming Displays

2.1 Studio Ceramics, from 21st September 2019.
The team at Ancient House is working with curators from the NMS Art 
Department on a new exhibition due to open in September 2019 featuring 
highlights from the NMS decorative art collections, including recent 
acquisitions and items not previously on public display.  This approach is 
planned to complement the domestic scale of the museum and make effective 
use of the high quality modern display cases in the main exhibitions room.

9



2.2 Thetford Treasure
A request has been made to borrow once more a selection of items from the 
late Roman hoard of inscribed and decorated silver spoons and gold jewellery 
known as the Thetford Treasure from the British Museum. If the loan is 
agreed, the exhibition would take place in 2020.

2.3 Brecks River and Fen Edge landscape project.  
The Ancient House has applied to be part of this initiative to focus on the 
conservation and interpretation of the Brecks Area.  If successful, the museum 
would produce exhibitions on the themes of Vikings and Riverside Industrial 
Heritage. A conference was held at the Carnegie Rooms, Thetford on 13th 
March to outline the proposed projects if the bid is successful.  The bid has 
been submitted and we hope to hear in the autumn.

2.4 Duleep Singh Gallery Feasibility 
Feasibility work continues for creating a new display in one of the upstairs 
rooms at Ancient House to make more of the unusual connections between 
the Museum and the Maharajah Duleep Singh and his family, especially his 
son Prince Frederick Duleep Singh.  A number of private donations have been 
received towards this project totally approximately £2,500. The Museum plans 
to submit a bid to the National Lottery Heritage Fund. 

3 Learning with Adults, Children and Young People

3.1 Activities for children and Families
The Ancient House Museum continues to offer a popular programme of 
themed gallery discovery trails, with a new trail available for each week of the 
school holidays. 

The museum provided activities for families in the February Half Term at 
Easter and in May Half Term. More are planned for July’s Festival period and 
the school summer holidays.

3.2 Museum Clubs
The Mini Museum Club aimed at those under 5 remains popular.  During the 
period of this report, themed session for this age group have included 
Gardens and Minibeasts.

The after-school History Club which meets on a Wednesday afternoon 
continues to build in popularity and has grown to 20 members. Recent topics 
have included Tudors, Ancient Egypt and the Commonwealth

The after-school Teenage History Club continues to meet on a Friday 
afternoons and recent activities have included work on a film and providing 
Queer History tours at Norwich, Gressenhall and Lynn Museum, King’s Lynn.

10



3.3 Textile groups
The Museum continues to hold Knit and Knatter sessions at the Museum and 
a spinning group also meets at the Museum on a regular basis, offering 
demonstrations to visitors.  Members of the textile groups contributed to a 
window display marking the town’s summer River Day. 

3.4 Talks programme, in association with the Friends of the Museum
A programme of illustrated talks continues to be offered at Ancient House 
Museum on Tuesday afternoons.  Attendances average 15-25, with a number 
of the talks being delivered by NMS staff. Recent topics have included talks 
on Heraldry and Model figures.

3.5 Schools
The Museum continues to offer a wide range of learning opportunities for 
schools.  Delivery of the sessions is typically by a combination of museum 
staff, experienced freelancers and volunteers.  A tried and tested format is to 
offer a ‘carousel’ of activities around the building with groups of schoolchildren 
moving between the activities such as object handling, drama, craft and food.

4 Ancient House and the Media

4.1 The One Show
Learning Officer Melissa Hawker appeared on BBC One’s One Show talking 
with presenter Ruth Goodman about ‘The Man in the Iron Mask’, Harry 
Bensley, and the story that he walked around the world wearing an iron mask 
and pushing a pram. Melissa was able to debunk the story.

4.2 Appearances on BBC Radio Norfolk
Ancient House featured on a special Radio Norfolk outside broadcast 
transmitted from the museum on May 30th. Staff, volunteers and partners 
dropped in to the museum to be interviewed. The Museum has also a new 
and regular History Corner feature on Radio Norfolk.

4.3 Social media 
The museum continues to develop its social media presence, with Twitter and 
Facebook accounts being maintained by staff. The Ancient House Museum 
accounts continue to grow with the Twitter account having 2,938 followers 
with Facebook having 930 follows. The Ancient House participated in several 
national social media campaigns including the major international museums 
event #MuseumWeek

5 Other Museum Developments

5.1 Volunteers
A small team of volunteers meets on a weekly basis in the Museum. 
Volunteers have continued with a programme of documentation work involving 
the photographing and cataloguing of some of the recent acquisitions. The 
team’s work enhances and illustrates the museum catalogue available online 
through the museum service’s collections website.  

11



Volunteers also contribute to the work of the learning team through delivery of 
the Mini Museum Club for the under 5s, the delivery of sessions for schools 
and preparing resource boxes for learning activities. Volunteer Dan Morgan 
created a George and the Dragon window display in April for St George’s Day 
2019.

5.2 Friends of the Museum
The Friends of the Museum continue to support the Museum through 
fundraising and promoting the Museum in the town. A visit to King’s Lynn to 
see the new displays at the South Gate and also Lynn Museum is planned for 
June.

5.3 Teaching Museum Trainee Scheme
During 2019-2020, the Ancient House will continue to host a twelve month 
paid traineeship, provided through the NMS Teaching Museum programme.  
Samantha Parker, Curatorial Trainee, based at the Ancient House and Lynn 
Museum finished her 2018-19 twelve month traineeship in April. The 
traineeship is funded through the NMS Arts Council England National Portfolio 
Organisation 2018-2022 Business Plan. The 2019-20 Ancient House trainee 
is Paula Murphy.

5.4 Toymark award
The Ancient House has once more been awarded the Toymark good practice 
award from ‘Let Toys be Toys’ for the museum shop. This approach 
encourages promotion of toys to all and avoids any gender stereotyping.

5.5 Breckworld Launch
On the 12th February, the Ancient House hosted the launch by Breckland 
Council of Breckworld, a new app for people to explore the attractions of 
Breckland, including Ancient House and Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse. 
Narrated by Stephen Fry, Breckworld allows people to gain a taster of what 
places are like to help inform their visits.

5.6 Museum Contribution to Thetford Town Meeting 7th May
Melissa Hawker, the Ancient House’s Learning Officer gave a presentation 
about the work of the museum supporting the town over the last year as part 
of the meeting following the annual Thetford Mayor Making ceremony on 7th 
May.

6 Visitor Numbers  

6.1 Up to date visitor figures will be circulated at the meeting.

7 Resource implications

(a) Finance None
(b) Property None
(c) Staff None
(d) Information Technology None

12



8 Recommendations:

That the Area Museums Committee notes the report

Originator of report:
Oliver Bone
Curator
Ancient House Museum of Thetford Life
Tel: 01842 752599 e-mail: oliver.bone@norfolk.gov.uk 

13

mailto:oliver.bone@norfolk.gov.uk


BRECKLAND
AREA MUSEUMS COMMITTEE

17 July 2019 Item No.

GRESSENHALL FARM AND WORKHOUSE REPORT

Report by the Operations Manager – West

1. Events and Activities 

1.1 The events programme at Gressenhall continues to offer a broad range 
of activities based around the four operational models: 
 Special Event days – major events which require full event staffing 

and set up, including the use of large parking fields. For 2019, these 
are: Retro Revival, Village at War and Apple Day.  A premium ticket 
price applies on these days to reflect the high level of activities 
taking place.  Free admission continues to be provided to Norfolk 
Museums Pass holders. 

 Days with a Difference – smaller themed events including Winging 
It! and Horse Power.  These require smaller staffing complement 
and utilise core parking.  They are aimed at attracting audiences of 
500-800 visitors. Again, they are offered free to Norfolk Museums 
Pass holders.

 Norfolk School Holiday activities – extra themed activities delivered 
each day of the Norfolk School holidays, with minimal increase in 
staffing.  Free to Norfolk Museums Pass holders. 

 Ticketed Events – pre-booked and pre-paid events.  For 2019, 
these include the murder mystery event A Pound of Flesh. Staff are 
also planning a Victorian Family Christmas.  These events, held 
outside of standard opening hours or out of the main season, offer a 
reduced charge to Norfolk Museums Pass holders. 

1.2 During the period covered by this report, these events have included:
Special Event Days:
 Retro Revival (1,252 visitors) themed around the 1950’s and 1960’s 

with live music and classic cars on site

This report provides information on activities at Gressenhall Farm 
and Workhouse from February 2019 to June 2019.

If you need this report in large print, audio, Braille, 
alternative format or in a different language please 
contact Andrew Smith on 01362 869254 and we will 
do our best to help

14

Agenda Item 9



Days with a Difference:
  Winging It!  (368 visitors)
 Open Farm Sunday (3,327 visitors)

Pre-booked events:
 A Pound of Flesh – across two evenings (170 participants)  

Norfolk School Holiday Activities:
 Easter Holidays – Wild Play Days (4,703 visitors)
 May Half Term – Create! Awash with Colour (1,811 visitors) 

1.3 Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse also participates in a number of 
national programmes offering free admission including Open Farm 
Sundays in June and Heritage Open Days in September. For Open 
Farm Sunday on 7 June 2019, NMS worked in partnership with the 
NCC County Farms team. This year’s event was a huge success with 
people visiting to enjoy the site and learn about rural life. Activities 
included potato picking, viewing tractors, meeting ‘Curly’ the cow and 
sheep shearing demonstrations. Gressenhall was very busy all day 
with record numbers of 3,300 visitors attending, enjoying the varied 
stalls and activities.

1.4 The events programme continues to attract Norfolk Museums Pass 
holders and acts as a driver for further Museums Pass sales.  
Throughout 2019, an additional push on promoting this scheme to 
event day visitors is underway leading to sustained sales of these 
passes.   

1.5 Gressenhall organises a number of leisure learning short courses 
through the year. The next course is Letterpress Art scheduled for mid-
October 2019.

1.6 The costs of delivering and marketing the Gressenhall event 
programme continues to be subsidised with funding from the Arts 
Council England (ACE) as part of the 2018-22 Norfolk Museums 
Service (NMS) ACE business plan as a National Portfolio Organisation.  

1.7 The Gressenhall events programme is promoted via a specific piece of 
print, as well as an increased programme of digital marketing including 
Facebook and Google adverts and the museum’s own social media 
presence.

2. Other Museum Developments

2.1 The 2019 exhibition, Once Upon a Time, opened on 10 March 2019. 
This co-curated exhibition has been created by volunteers, staff, 
visitors and local library users. It asks the same question of visitors 
across all age ranges – “what’s your favourite children’s book?”
Filled with nostalgic favourites, modern classics and strange new 
worlds, Once Upon a Time celebrates Norfolk authors past and 

15



present. The exhibition features a Reading Forest and a Story Den 
filled with interactives, stories and multi-sensory toys for visitors to 
engage with. 

2.2 Gressenhall is leading on the More Than Oliver Twist project. This is a 
Subject Specialist Network (SSN) project funded by Arts Council 
England. The establishment of a new Workhouse Network SSN was 
one of the objectives of the recent Voices from the Workhouse project 
at Gressenhall supported by the Heritage Lottery Fund. For this project 
Gressenhall will be working with five other workhouse museums and 
Nottingham Trent University to engage museum workforces with 
pauper histories. A series of training sessions will enhance the skills of 
the museum workforces in historical enquiries and family histories to 
enable them to create pauper narratives for people who lived and 
worked in their workhouses in the 1881 census. A second phase of the 
project sees these histories then used to create a powerful and emotive 
physical and digital temporary exhibition. The ACE-funded Project 
Support Officer has just started in post and will be working on the 
project for the next year. The project team are currently planning 
mentor training, skills sessions and a networking event for later in the 
summer.  
The Farmers’ Foundry steam engine restoration project, also funded 
through Arts Council England now has a revised timetable which is 
approved by the funding body. The steam engine will be returned to 
Gressenhall, made fully operational again and will also provide the 
platform to train a new diverse volunteer team. This project ties into the 
proposed 2020 temporary exhibition Full Steam Ahead. Developmental 
work has already begun on the exhibition and it will investigate what 
steam power is, how it has been used in the past and how it is still used 
today. This family friendly hands-on show will feature a range of 
interactives and museum objects and will be visually stunning; 
embracing a steam punk style.

2.3 The Gressenhall Early Birds events continue to attract attention, with 
two further dates being offered this year – Monday 29 July and 
Tuesday 22 October. On these days the museum galleries open early 
with sound and projections switched off where possible, making a more 
comfortable visit for those who are sensitive to busy environments. The 
use of cutting edge technology allowing visitors to ‘meet’ real people 
from the workhouse’s history have been well received but for some 
visitors they have the potential to cause sensory overload.  The Early 
Bird openings, which are delivered in partnership with Autism Anglia, 
allows Gressenhall to make these adjustments for our autistic visitors. 

2.4 During recent years, the Norfolk Collections Centre has opened more 
frequently to support Gressenhall events and activities. This year so far 
West Runton Mammoth tours have been held on Thursday 11 April and 
Friday 5 July. More Mammoth tours are planned for 11am and 2pm on 
Tuesday 13 August and Thursday 17 October 2019. These tours are 
booked in advance. The Norfolk Collections Centre will also be open 

16



for ‘behind the scenes’ viewings of the collections housed there as part 
of the wider Gressenhall Heritage Open Day programme on Sunday 15 
September. The centre will also be open for 3 further days from the 22 
to 24 October during the half term period.

2.5 The Panhard et Levassor car attended the Royal Norfolk Show on 26 
and 27 July to celebrate the cars heritage and to promote Gressenhall 
Farm and Workhouse. Taking pride of place on the Presidents Lawn 
next to the Grand Ring, the Panhard et Levassor car took part in three 
separate parades around the ring and was very well received. This was 
made possible by Gressenhall volunteers who helped at the show by 
manning the stand for the car, especially Team Panhard who spent 
long hours at the show, planning the event and driving the car.

2.6 The re-development of the Adventure Playground at Gressenhall Farm 
and Workhouse, funded through the NCC capital programme 2019-20 
is now at the main contractor tendering stage, with an install schedule 
to be finalised for the autumn / winter period in advance of the new 
playground opening at the start of the 2020 season. The new look 
adventure playground will play a key role in attracting families, repeat 
visitors and NMS Museums Pass holders to the site. The specification 
for the new playground’s design will ensure that the playground 
complements the wider site’s existing interpretation including such 
elements as the wildlife, woodland, heavy horses, farm animals and the 
workhouse. The new play provision for children and young people will 
support the building and sustaining of key Gressenhall audiences 
including families, tourists, local people, repeat visitors, Museums Pass 
holders and school groups. 

2.7 Maintaining and growing a strong social media presence remains a key 
priority for Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse and the site has three 
Social Media Champions to ensure the regular publishing of interesting 
content on Facebook and Twitter.  All staff are encouraged to support 
this, supplying content and images.  These Champions also respond to 
enquiries and reviews made via these channels, Trip Advisor and 
Google Reviews.  At the end of June 2019, the museum had 4,792 
Facebook likes and 5,612 Twitter followers.  A Pinterest account is also 
supported with a wide range of boards including ‘Weddings at 
Gressenhall’ and an Instagram page is established and currently has 
1,066 followers. The site has been awarded a Certificate of Excellence 
from the influential TripAdvisor website.

To connect with Gressenhall, please visit:
https://www.facebook.com/GressenhallFW 
https://twitter.com/GressenhallFW 
https://www.pinterest.com/gressenhallfwh/
https://www.instagram.com/gressenhall_fw/?hl=en   
https://gressenhallfw.wordpress.com/ 
http://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/Gressenhall_Farm_and_Workhouse 

17

https://www.facebook.com/GressenhallFW
https://twitter.com/GressenhallFW
https://www.pinterest.com/gressenhallfwh/
https://www.instagram.com/gressenhall_fw/?hl=en
https://gressenhallfw.wordpress.com/
http://www.tripadvisor.co.uk/Gressenhall_Farm_and_Workhouse


2.8 Gressenhall continues to develop a range of commercial activities as a 
means of generating income, including room and venue hire. Our 
events partner, The Norfolk Events Company, are working to develop 
our commercial business further.  The aim is to deliver a high quality 
offer whilst ensuring that such bookings do not detract from key 
museum activities. The company has made good progress in marketing 
our site, including publishing the venue on their website:
https://thenorfolkeventscompany.co.uk/gressenhall-norfolk/  

3. Friends and Volunteers

3.1 The Friends of Gressenhall remain very active and supportive, with bi-
monthly Committee Meetings held at the museum.  The Friends of 
Gressenhall continue to support a range of activities across the site 
including significant levels of funding towards the upkeep of the Suffolk 
Punch horses.  

3.2 In 2017, the Friends generously agreed to support a project to restore 
the Farmers’ Foundry engine boiler (formerly part of the Bygones 
Collection at Holkham) back to working use. This was in addition to a 
grant of £19,788 from the Arts Council England Preservation of 
Industrial and Scientific Material (PRISM) fund. This engine was 
manufactured by the Farmer’s Foundry Company, Great Ryburgh, just 
seven miles from Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse. The portable 
steam engine was used to power a range of different processes 
including threshing work, corn-mills, centrifugal pumps, stone-crushers, 
dynamos, chaff-cutters, hay-balers and saw benches.  Initial 
conservation work identified that additional resources were required to 
make the engine fully operational.  The application submitted to the 
Arts Council England Investment Fund has been successful. This will 
enable additional conservation work to be carried out and the volunteer 
team supported to create a portfolio of volunteering opportunities. This 
will deliver more diversity within the teams working with the engine and 
it should be back in steam at Gressenhall in 2020. 

3.3  The Friends continue to operate the Gressenhall second hand 
bookshop, generating income for the Friends.  Recruitment of a team of 
active bookshop volunteers has helped to ensure that new donations 
are processed every day and the shelves tidied.  As a result, income 
from this shop continues to grow. 

3.4 The Gressenhall Curator Dr Megan Dennis continues to co-ordinate, 
manage and develop the volunteer teams at Gressenhall.  Around 120 
volunteers are currently active on site, organised into specialist teams.  
Volunteer hours are recorded.

18

https://thenorfolkeventscompany.co.uk/gressenhall-norfolk/


4. Learning & Outreach

4.1 School numbers remain strong. More than 10,000 children visited with 
their schools between April 2018 and March 2019 and bookings are 
strong for the Summer term 2019. The Learning Team is currently 
delivering a long run of Once Upon A Time school event days for 
Reception and Key Stage One children. The day involves helping 
Cinderella and the Ugly Sisters in and around the farmhouse, going on 
an adventure with Jack and meeting the Wicked Witch in the woods. 
Children try to find fairy tale objects and get them back into the cases 
so that the Museum of Fairy Tales can open. Not surprisingly, most of 
Gressenhall’s school events are history-focused. Once Upon A Time 
shows how museums and collections can be used to promote literacy 
in schools, engaging children and, hopefully, developing a love of 
stories and reading. 

4.2 Following last year’s Wellbeing Day for young people, Gressenhall staff 
were approached by colleagues from Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation 
Trust to offer an event for the Gypsy Roma Traveller Community. The 
day, held on 18 May 2019, aimed to offer members of the GRT 
community free entrance to Gressenhall, whilst partners from a wide 
range of local service providers were on hand to highlight the support 
available. We had no idea of what to expect from the day and were 
extremely delighted that twenty-eight members of the community 
attended. NMS ran two art activities during the day and local service 
providers and voluntary organisations offered engaging activities 
encouraging visitors to access information about health and wellbeing. 
Partners attending the day included: One Voice 4 Travellers, Carers 
Matter; Cambridge Community services NHS Trust; Norfolk Library and 
Information Services; Healthwatch Norfolk; NCC Adult Social Services, 
Early Help & Prevention; Norfolk and Waveney Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership, Cancer Communications and Engagement 
Manager; Wellbeing and NCN Mind; Wellbeing East Norfolk and 
Waveney; MacMillan Cancer; The Big C. Learning staff will review with 
partners and decide how Gressenhall can build upon this initial 
engagement. 

4.3 On 15 June Gressenhall hosted the annual Family Fun Day for NCC 
Looked After and Adoptive children. The event followed a similar format 
to previous years; the day offers families a chance to meet each other 
and catch-up in a relaxed environment. NCC Family Placement staff 
are on hand to talk to families if needs and Museum learning staff and 
freelancers deliver informal activities focused around a theme. This 
year’s theme was Roll Up to the Circus. Foolhardy Circus provided 
circus activities and shows whilst visitors could make circus masks, 
play fairground games, help create a giant circus crow and have their 
faces painted and their fortunes told. Numbers for the day were a 
record 652. The event is now in its thirteenth year and provides a 
wonderful example of effective partnership working between museum 
staff and Family Placement. The day is supposed to be fun, but it has a 

19



more serious side. Carers are given the chance to discuss issues with 
each other and NCC staff, and for children to meet each other. NMS 
staff were told by Family Placement of an eight-year old boy who, 
whilst at the event, realised that all the other children with him were 
also Looked After. For the first time, he realised that he was not the 
only one.

4.4 Gressenhall will also be repeating the successful event for children in 
receipt of support from NCC Virtual School Sensory Support in 
September 2019, again offering engaging activities to allow families 
and children to have a safe space in which they can meet each other 
and their support staff. Learning staff are also running an event day for 
KS2 children from mainstream schools who are hearing impaired in 
April. The aim would to be allow these children, who are frequently the 
only children in their class wearing hearing technology, the chance to 
meet and work alongside other children with similar technology.

4.5 Friday 31 May and Saturday 1 June saw the Gressenhall learning team 
host the annual murder mystery event for ‘Museums at Night, A Pound 
of Flesh. Not surprisingly, the murder revolves around a rehearsal for a 
morale-lifting performance of The Merchant of Venice. Set in May 
1940, the plot focused upon a morale-raising production of the play to 
help the War effort. When one of the actors drops dead at a rehearsal, 
Inspector Lightfoot, and the audience, were enlisted to untangle a 
complex tale of German spies, Mi5 and double-dealing.

4.6 Gressenhall continues to be registered with NCC as a Care Farm.  The 
site is currently offering funded work-based placements to adults with 
learning difficulties.

5.  Visitor numbers  

5.1 Visitor figures for the period will be circulated at the meeting.

6.  Resource implications 

(a) Finance
Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse receives funding to support core 
operations and activities from Norfolk County Council.  A number of 
activities are financed as part of funding to Norfolk Museums Service from 
Arts Council England as a National Portfolio Organisation under the terms 
of the current 2018-22 Business Plan.  Project activities are funded from a 
range of external sources including the National Lottery Heritage Fund 
(formerly the Heritage Lottery Fund).  The source of these funds are 
detailed within the report.  The above report includes no additional or 
unfunded financial implications.  

(b) Property

20



Unless specified, the above activities relate to the Gressenhall Farm and 
Workhouse and Norfolk Collections Centre site.  The above report includes 
no additional implications relating to property.

(c) Staff
The team at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse are supported by a wider 
team of colleagues within Norfolk Museums Service.  Some current posts 
are funded by external project funding. The above report includes no 
additional implications relating to staffing and personnel resources.

(d) Information Technology
Digital operations at Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse are supported by 
Norfolk County Council’s IMT department.  Social media is delivered by 
the Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse team.  The above report includes 
no additional implications relating to Information Technology.

7.  Recommendations:

That the Area Museums Committee notes the report 

Originator of report:
Andrew Smith
Operations Manager – West, Norfolk Museums Service
Gressenhall Farm and Workhouse, Gressenhall, Dereham, Norfolk NR20 4DR
Tel: 01362 869254 e-mail: andrew.smith.mus@norfolk.gov.uk 

21

mailto:andrew.smith.mus@norfolk.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	8 Ancient House Museum Report
	9 Gressenhall Farm & Workhouse Report

